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PER CURIAM: 

  Carrol Lee Owens pled guilty to Count 8, bank fraud in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1344, 2 (2006), and Count 9, fraud 

with identification documents, in violation of 18 U.S.C.A. 

§ 1028(A) (West 2000 & Supp. 2009) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 (2006).  He 

was sentenced to twenty-four-month sentences for each violation, 

to be served consecutively, for a total sentence of forty-eight 

months.  On appeal, counsel has raised two issues:  First, 

whether Owens’ waiver of counsel was knowing and voluntary and  

second, whether the district court erred by denying Owens’ 

motion to substitute counsel. Owens has filed a pro se 

supplemental brief listing two additional issues.  Owens first 

alleges that the district court erred by denying his motion to 

withdraw his plea agreement.  In his remaining issue, Owens 

argues that the district court erred by denying his motion to 

dismiss the indictment and motion to strike surplusage from the 

indictment.  For the reasons that follow, we affirm. 

  We find no error in the district court’s decision to 

allow Owens to waive his right to counsel and proceed pro se.  

See United States v. Singleton, 107 F.3d 1091, 1097 n.3 (4th 

Cir. 1997) (giving review standard).  A review of the record 

reveals that Owens knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to 

counsel.  United States v. Gallop, 838 F.2d 105, 110-11 (4th 

Cir. 1988).  Neither do we find that the district court abused 
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its discretion when it denied Owens’ motion to substitute 

counsel, made the day after Owens informed the court he was 

willing and able to represent himself better than his appointed 

counsel.  See United States v. Corporan-Cuevas, 35 F.3d 953, 956 

(4th Cir. 1994) (stating review standard).   

  Owens’ pro se issues are also lacking.  Owens fails to 

show that the district court abused its discretion in denying 

his motion to withdraw his plea agreement.  See United States v. 

Ubakanma, 215 F.3d 421, 424 (4th Cir. 2000) (providing review 

standard).  Finally, we find no reversible error in the district 

court’s denial of Owens’ motion to dismiss his indictment and 

motion to strike surplusage from the indictment.  The indictment 

informed Owens of the crimes for which he was being prosecuted 

and we discern no grounds for dismissal.  Fed. R. Crim. P. 

7(c)(1); see United States v. Hatcher, 560 F.3d 222, 224 (4th 

Cir. 2009).  As found by the district court, Owens failed to 

identify irrelevant and prejudicial allegations as would be 

needed in a motion to strike surplusage from an indictment.  See 

Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(d).  Owens has failed to show that the 

district court abused its discretion in denying the motions. 

United States v. Williams, 445 F.3d 724, 733 (4th Cir. 2006) 

(discussing review standard and legal analysis); United 

States v. Poore, 594 F.2d 39, 41 (4th Cir. 1979) (same).   
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  Accordingly, we affirm Owens’ convictions.  We 

dispense with oral argument because the facts and legal 

contentions are adequately presented in the materials before the 

court and argument would not aid the decisional process. 

 

AFFIRMED 


